A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The admission of Giovanna Bustos's out-of-court statements to 

a Bothell police officer violated Eric Levine's constitutional right to 

confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him. 

B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The Sixth Amendment confrontation clause prohibits the 

introduction of testimonial hearsay unless the declarant is unavailable 

to testify and the defendant had the prior opportunity to cross-examine 

the declarant. Giovanna Bustos did not testify at Mr. Levine's trial for 

fourth degree assault, but the trial court permitted a Bothell police 

officer to testify that Ms. Bustos told him that Mr. Levine had assaulted 

her earlier that afternoon. The primary purpose of the interview was to 

identify the crime that had been committed and confirm Mr. Levine's 

identify as the perpetrator, as there was no ongoing emergency. Did 

the introduction of Ms. Bustos's testimonial out-of-court statements 

violate Mr. Levine's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses 

against him? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Eric Levine was living in Bothell on August 4, 2008, when he 

received a telephone call from Giovanna Bustos excitedly asking if she 



could come to his house. CP 256, 257. 1 The two had known each 

other for several years; two years earlier they were in a very brief 

intimate relationship but remained friends. CP 269-70, 271-72. Ms. 

Bustos did not have a key to Mr. Levine's house, but he would let her 

stay at his house for several days every month or so. CP 269, 271. 

Mr. Levine told Ms. Bustos that she could not stay with him, 

and he did not pick up the telephone when she called him again. CP 

258. Ms. Bustos left a confused message accusing Mr. Levine of 

following her breath and cheating with a green-eyed girl on the 

computer. CP 259. 

Later that day when he finished taking a shower, Mr. Levine 

found Ms. Bustos inside his home. CP 259. She was "out of her mind" 

and was "talking about things that didn't exist." CP 259-60, 274-75. 

Mr. Levine again told Ms. Bustos that she could not stay at his house, 

and she eventually agreed to leave when he offered her a ride. CP 260-

61. 

Mr. Levine drove Ms. Bustos in his pickup truck, but she was 

angry and screaming at him so loudly that Mr. Levine could not 

concentrate on driving safely. Mr. Levine pulled onto the side of the 

1 The verbatim report of proceedings ofMr. Levine's Bothell Municipal Court 
jury trial and sentencing on January 4 and January 5, 2012, is found at CP 149-340. 
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road after traveling almost a quarter of a mile, and asked Ms. Bustos to 

get out. CP 261-64. Ms. Bustos got out of the pickup truck only after 

Mr. Levine himself exited and activated the alarm. CP 263-64. Ms. 

Bustos then ran in the direction of a nearby house, and Mr. Levine 

returned to his truck and drove home. CP 256-66. 

Ms. Bustos went to home of Carol Jean Cornelius and her 

husband and screamed for help. CP 206, 210. Ms. Cornelius assured 

Ms. Bustos that she was safe and called 911. CP 207, 210. One of Mr. 

Cornelius's crewmembers went to the front of the house and watched 

until aid arrived. CP 211-12. 

Several Bothell police officers and medics responded to the 911 

call. CP 225, 230. Police Officer John Lawson and another officer 

went to Mrs. Cornelius's residence, and two others went to Mr. 

Levine's house and placed him under arrest. CP 225-26, 229, 236-37. 

Mr. Levine was charged by amended complaint in Bothell 

Municipal Court with fourth degree assault. CP 13. Ms. Bustos did not 

appear at his jury trial before the Honorable Michelle Gehlsen. CP 

152. A material witness warrant was issued but never served. CP 32, 

162. Prior to trial, the court ruled that Ms. Bustos's statements to Mrs. 

Cornelius were admissible as excited utterances. CP 167. The court 
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also found that statements to the police officer who responded to Ms. 

Cornelius's home were nontestimonial and also met the excited 

utterance exception to the hearsay rule. CP 173, 186-87. 

Ms. Cornelius testified that a young lady she did not know ran 

up to her house on August 4 screaming "help me." CP 206, 210. The 

woman was shaking, appeared very frightened, and had a little bit of 

blood in her ear and a scratch or blood on her neck. CP 207. The 

woman told Mrs. Cornelius that she was hit in the ear. CP 207. Mrs. 

Cornelius got the impression that the woman had either jumped or been 

pushed out of a car. CP 207. Mrs. Cornelius called 911 and related 

what the woman told her, adding the woman was "kind [of] hysterical." 

CP 207-08. 

Officer Lawson testified that police dispatch related the contents 

of the 911 call to him prior to his arrival at the Cornelius residence. CP 

224. According to the officer, dispatch informed him that Ms. Bustos 

claimed her ex-boyfriend hit her, choked her, and threatened to kill her 

at the residence where they both lived. Id. When Officer Lawson 

arrived at the Cornelius's home, he contacted Ms. Bustos in order to 

determine if a crime had occurred. CP 225-26,229. He asked Ms. 

Bustos what happened, and she stated that her ex-boyfriend came home 
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at 1 :00, got on the computer, and got angry when she asked what he 

was doing. CP 230. She said he got up, yelled at her, struck her, 

placed his hands around her neck, and pressed on her eyes with his 

thumbs. CP 230-31, 242. She also claimed he threatened to kill her 

and would certainly kill her if she called the police. CP 237. Officer 

Lawson asked Ms. Bustos if Eric Levine was the ex-boyfriend, and she 

confirmed that he was. CP 231. 

Officer Lawson observed that Ms. Bustos's neck was red with 

some abrasions. CP 226. He photographed her neck and then allowed 

the Bothell Fire Department medics to examine her. CP 231-33. The 

medics determined that Ms. Bustos did not need any immediate 

medical attention. CP 242. 

Mr. Levine was convicted of fourth degree assault, and the jury 

found by special verdict that he and Ms. Bustos were members of the 

same household. CP 47-48,325. Mr. Levine was given a suspended 

sentence that included ten days injail, a domestic violence assessment, 

and the requirement that he have no contact with Ms. Bustos.2 CP 26, 

29, 31. 

2 A month later, Ms. Bustos filed a motion to modify or rescind the no-contact 
order. CP 18-20. Her notarized statement she stated that Mr. Levine did not assault her 
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Mr. Levine appealed to the King County Superior Court where 

he argued, inter alia, that his constitutional right to confront the 

witnesses against him was violated by the use of Ms. Bustos's out-of-

court statements at trial. CP 4, 138-45,361-64. His conviction was 

affirmed in a one-sentence opinion. CP 365. This Court granted 

discretionary review to address the Confrontation Clause issue. Order 

Granting Motion for Discretionary Review (October 30,2013). 

D. ARGUMENT 

The admission of Ms. Bustos's out-of-court statements 
to the investigating police officer violated Mr. Levine's 
constitutional right to confront the witnesses against 
him. 

At Eric Levine's trial for fourth degree assault, the City of 

Bothell was permitted to elicit testimony from a police officer that 

Giovanna Bustos told him that her former boyfriend, Mr. Levine, yelled 

at her, struck her, choked her, threatened her, and pushed his thumbs 

into her eyes. Ms. Bustos did not testify, and Mr. Levine was never 

given the opportunity to cross-examine her. The introduction of this 

testimonial hearsay violated the confrontation clause of the United 

and she called the police because she was angry at him. CP 19-20. The no-contact order 
was not modified. 
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States Constitution. Mr. Levine's fourth degree assault conviction 

must be reversed and remanded for a new trial. 

a. The Sixth Amendment guarantees the accused the right to 

confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him. The Sixth 

Amendment provides that "in all criminal prosecutions, the accused 

shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against 

him.,,3 U.S. Const. amend. VI. "A witness's testimony against a 

defendant is thus inadmissible unless the witness appears at trial or, if 

the witness is unavailable, the defendant had a prior opportunity for 

cross-examination." Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 

309, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009); Crawford v. 

Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 54,124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 

(2004). 

"Cross-examination is the principal means by which the 

believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested." 

Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308,316,94 S. Ct. 1105,39 L. Ed. 2d 347 

(1974); accord Crawford, 541 U.S. at 61; State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 

612,620,41 P.3d 1189 (2002). Thus, the integrity ofthe fact-finding 

3 This "bedrock procedural guarantee" applies to the States through the 
Fourteenth Amendment. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 42 (citing Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 
400,403, 85 S. Ct. 1065, 13 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1965)). 
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process is jeopardized if the right to confrontation is denied. Darden, 

145 Wn.2d at 620. 

This Court reviews Mr. Levine's confrontation clause challenge 

de novo. State v. Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d 409,417,209 P.3d 479 

(2009). 

b. Mr. Levine objected to the introduction of Ms. Bustos's out

of-court statements. When Ms. Bustos did not appear for trial, the City 

argued that admitting her statements would not violate the 

Confrontation Clause if the statements were admissible as an excited 

utterance, which the City asserted was a firmly rooted exception to the 

hearsay rule. CP 156. The trial court, however, felt the statements 

should also be analyzed in light of Crawford and Davis, and Mr. Levine 

asserted his constitutional right to confront the witness. CP 155-56, 

158, 173. 

The City read from the police reports of Officer Lawson and 

another officer as an offer of proof. CP 167-68, 170. Defense counsel 

argued that the circumstances of the interrogation did not demonstrate 

an ongoing emergency and that the interrogation addressed past facts 

rather than ongoing events. CP 175, 180, 187-90. The trial court, 

however, determined Ms. Bustos's initial statements to the officer were 
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nontestimonial because the officer was trying to determine if there was 

an emergency, what he needed to do, and who he needed to arrest. CP 

186-87. 

c. Ms. Bustos's statements to the police officer were testimonial. 

"[A]n out-of-court accusation is universally conceded to be 

constitutionally inadmissible against the accused ... " Bruton v. United 

States, 391 U.S. 123, 138,88 S. Ct. 1620,20 L. Ed. 2d 476 (1968) 

(Stewart, J., concurring). In Crawford, the United States Supreme 

Court announced that the Confrontation Clause forbids the introduction 

of "testimonial" hearsay against the accused unless the declarant is 

unavailable and the defendant had the prior opportunity to cross

examine the declarant. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 54. 

The Crawford Court, however, declined to provide a definitive 

definition of what qualifies as a "testimonial" statement, instead 

offering examples of the "core class of testimonial statements." Id. at 

51-52. These include ex parte in-court testimony, affidavits or other 

"pretrial statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used 

prosecutorially," and affidavits or statements "made under 

circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to 
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believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial." 

In Crawford, the trial court admitted the defendant's wife's 

statements to the police made at the police precinct after her husband's 

arrest for assault. The statements contradicted the defendant's claim of 

self-defense, and the wife did not testify at trial. Id. at 38-41. The 

Crawford Court held that the defendant's confrontation rights were 

violated by the introduction of his wife's statement, ruling that 

"[ s ]tatements taken by police officers in the course of interrogations are 

also testimonial under even a narrow standard." Id. at 52. 

The Court further defined when statements to a police officers 

and other governments officials are testimonial in Davis v. Washington, 

547 U.S. 813, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006). The Davis 

Court addressed two cases where women reported incidents of 

domestic violence in a less formal setting than a police precinct. In 

Davis, Ms. McCottry talked to a 911 operator while her ex-boyfriend 

entered her home and assaulted her, and the conversation continued as 

he left in a car. 547 U.S. at 817-18. The 911 call was admitted even 

though McCottry did not appear for trial. Id. at 819. In the companion 

case, Hammon, police responded to the Hammon home, separated the 
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couple, and spoke to Amy Hammon in her living room. Id. at 819-20. 

Her written statement was admitted at her husband's trial, but she did 

not testify. Id. at 820. 

In addressing these domestic violence cases, the Court 

concluded that statements to a police officer are testimonial when the 

primary purpose of the interrogation is to determine past facts and not 

to respond to an ongoing emergency: 

Statements are nontestimonial when made in the course 
of police interrogation under circumstances objectively 
indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is 
to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing 
emergency. They are testimonial when the 
circumstances objectively indicate that there is not such 
ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the 
interrogation is to establish or prove past events 
potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution. 

Davis, 547 U.S. at 722. 

The Court concluded that McCottry's statements to the 911 

operator were not testimonial because she was "speaking about events 

as they were actually happening," there was an ongoing emergency, the 

911 operators elicited the statements in order to response and "resolve 

the present emergency," and the statements were not formal. Davis, 

547 U.S. at 827. In contrast, Ms. Hammon's statements were 

testimonial and their admission violated the confrontation clause 
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because the police were investigating past conduct, the interrogation 

was relatively formal, the interrogation occurred after the incident was 

over, and the declarant made deliberate answers to police questioning. 

Id. at 829. Thus, the existence of an "ongoing emergency" at the time 

of an encounter between a declarant and the police "is among the most 

important circumstances informing the 'primary purpose' of an 

interrogation." Michigan v. Bryant, _ U.S. _, 131 S. Ct. 1143, 

1157, 179 L. Ed. 2d 93 (2011) (citing Davis, 547 U.S. at 828-30; 

Crawford, 541 U.S. at 65). 

The Bryant Court utilized the Davis test for the first time in a 

non-domestic violence case where "ongoing emergency" extended to 

the public at large. Bryant, 131 S. Ct. at 1156. In so doing, the Court 

reiterated that in determining if the primary purpose of an interrogation 

is to meet an ongoing emergency, the court must objectively decide 

what purpose "reasonable participants would have had, as ascertained 

from the individuals' statements and actions and the circumstances in 

which the encounter occurred." Id. at 1156. 

The Washington Supreme Court has identified four factors 

utilized by the Davis Court in determining the primary purpose of the 

police interrogation: (1) whether the speaker was addressing events as 
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they were occurring, requiring police assistance, or describing past 

events, (2) whether the speaker was facing an ongoing emergency, (3) 

whether the questions and answers, viewed objectively, demonstrate 

that the statements were necessary to resolve a present emergency or 

establish what happened in the past, and (4) the level of formality of the 

interrogation. Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d at 418-19; State v. Ohlson, 162 

Wn.2d 1, 15, 168 P.3d 1273 (2007); accord State v. Beadle, 173 Wn.2d 

97, 110,265 P.3d (2011). These factors demonstrate that the primary 

purpose ofthe police officer's interrogation was to gather past facts and 

not to respond to an ongoing emergency. 

i. Ms. Bustos was relating past events and not events that 

were occurring. The content of Officer Lawson's questioning of Ms. 

Bustos and the separation from the alleged crime demonstrate Ms. 

Bustos was relating past facts to further the police investigation. First, 

Ms. Bustos's words all addressed past events. When Office Lawson 

arrived at the Cornelius residence, he approached Ms. Bustos and asked 

"if she could tell me what happened." CP 230. Ms. Bustos then related 

the past events. She said that she was at Mr. Levine's house that 

afternoon and he came home at about 1 :00 PM and began working on 

the computer. Id. When Ms. Bustos asked Mr. Levine what he was 
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doing he became angry. Id. He got up from the computer, yelled at 

her, struck her, placed his hands around her neck and choked her, and 

pressed on her eyes with his thumbs. CP 230-31. The officer then 

asked, "The person that did this to you is your ex-boyfriend Eric 

Levine?", and Ms. Bustos said "yes." CP 231. 

Officer Lawson did not inquire about Ms. Bustos's health or the 

location of Mr. Levine. Instead, he asked her what happened in the 

past. Like the statements made by Mrs. Hammon in Davis, the 

interrogation here involved a recitation of events that happened in the 

past. 

In addition, Ms. Bustos's conversation with the officer occurred 

up to thirty minutes after the alleged assault. According to Ms. Bustos, 

the purported assault occurred sometime after 1 :00 PM. CP 230. After 

that, she and Mr. Levine apparently got into his pickup truck and drove 

to the area of the Cornelius residence. CP 223-24, 267. Ms. Bustos 

then appeared at the Cornelius horne and Mrs. Cornelius called 911. 

CP 206, 210. Officer Lawson arrived at the Cornelius residence about 

five or six minutes after he was dispatched there at 1 :34. CP 226. 
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The contents of Ms. Bustos's conversation with Officer Lawson 

demonstrate that she was describing past events and not requesting 

police assistance for an ongoing crime. 

ii. Ms. Bustos was not discussing an ongoing emergency. 

Ms. Bustos was not in danger at the time she was questioned by Officer 

Lawson. The statements were not made at the scene of the crime, but 

at a residence that was blocks away, Mrs. Cornelius's home. Ms. 

Cornelius told Ms. Bustos that she was safe, and Mr. and Mrs. 

Cornelius even had one of their crewmen stand at the end of the road to 

further protect her. CP 211-12. He waited until the aid car arrived and 

did not see anyone following Ms. Bustos. CP 212. In addition, two 

police officers and medics from the Bothell Fire Department were on 

the scene, and another two police officers went to Mr. Levine's 

residence. CP 225, 226, 230. Ms. Bustos also told the officer that she 

did not believe Mr. Levine was in the area. CP 225. 

In addition, Ms. Bustos was no longer near Mr. Levine's home, 

the alleged scene of the crime. Officer Lawson testified that Mr. 

Levine resided at 23409 39th Ave. S.E. in Bothell, but that he was 

dispatched to the Cornelius's home in the 3300 block of234th Street 

S.E. CP 223, 225. The officer claimed the two addresses were within a 
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couple of blocks, but Mr. Levine estimated he drove about a fourth of a 

mile before pulling over.4 CP 223, 267. Mrs. Cornelius's residence 

was on a gravel road about a block from the main street. CP 206, 211-

12,215-16. Thus, Ms. Bustos was no longer near the scene ofthe 

alleged assault or near the purported assailant. 

The complainant's medical condition is also relevant in 

determining if the officers are responding to an ongoing emergency. 

Bryant, 131 S. Ct. at 1159. Ms. Bustos was not seriously injured and 

did not require immediate medical attention. Officer Lawson, for 

example, questioned Ms. Bustos and took pictures of her neck before 

allowing the medics to attend to her. CP 231-32. He observed only red 

marks and scratches. CP 229. The photos were taken about five 

minutes after the officer arrived. CP 233. The medics did not treat Ms. 

Bustos, but examined her and confirmed she did not require emergency 

medical attention. CP 242. Thus, as in Davis, there was no medical 

emergency despite some injuries. Davis, 547 U.S. at 818, 820; 

compare Bryant, 131 S. Ct. at 1156, 1163-64 (victim had been shot, 

4 A search on Google Maps shows the two addresses are 0.6 miles apart by road. 
On de novo review, this Court may take judicial notice of a map. ER 20 I; RAP 9.11; 
State v. Nichols, 161 Wn.2d 1,5 n.l, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007); Vail v. McGuire, 50 Wash. 
187,189,96P.I042(1908). 
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perpetrator was at large, police did not know if the threat was limited to 

the victim). 

Based upon its reading of Ohlson, supra, the trial court believed 

there was an ongoing emergency because the police had not located 

Mr. Levine at the time of Ms. Bustos's conversation with Officer 

Lawson. CP 190. In fact, two police officers went to Mr. Levine's 

residence at the same time two officers went to Mrs. Cornelius's home. 

CP 226. Unlike Ohlson, this case involved a domestic violence 

situation and thus had a "narrower zone of potential victims than cases

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