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

C. ARGUMENT 

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT 
BUSTOS' INITIAL STATEMENTS TO THE 
RESPONDING OFFICER DID NOT IMPLICATE THE 
CONFRONTATION CLAUSE BECAUSE THEY 
WERE NOT TESTIMONIAL. 

Levine argues that Bustos' initial statements to Officer 

Lawson were admitted in violation of the Confrontation Clause of 

the Sixth Amendment. Appellant's Opening Brief, at 6-22. This 

claim should be rejected. The trial court correctly concluded that 

Bustos' statements were made for the purpose of enabling a 

response from police to assist with an ongoing emergency. The 

ongoing emergency existed because Bustos had fled from Levine 

to an unknown person's home after Levine had threatened to kill 

her if she phoned the police. Accordingly, the statements at issue 

were not testimonial, and this Court should affirm. 
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The United States Supreme Court's decision in Crawford v. 

Washington, 541 U.S. 36,124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 

(2004), fundamentally changed the focus of federal Confrontation 

Clause analysis. Whereas prior case law had focused on the 

reliability of out-of-court statements to determine admissibility, 

Crawford shifted the focus to the question of whether such 

statements are "testimonial" in nature. Accordingly, under 

Crawford, a witness's "testimonial" out-of-court statements are not 

admissible unless the defendant has been given an opportunity to 

cross-examine that witness. However, Crawford "Ie[ft] for another 

day any effort to spell out a comprehensive definition of 

'testimoniaL'" l!t. at 68. 

Some further guidance was provided by the Court's later 

decision in Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 

165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006). In Davis, the Court ruled that a 911 call 

made by a domestic violence victim was not testimonial because 

the statements were made to assist the police in responding to an 

emergency, not to assist in a later court proceeding: 

Statements are nontestimonial when made in the 
course of police interrogation under circumstances 
objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the 
interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an 
ongoing emergency. They are testimonial when the 
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circumstances objectively indicate that there is no 
such ongoing emergency, and that the primary 
purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove 
past events potentially relevant to later criminal 
prosecution. 

Davis, 547 U.S. at 822. Accordingly, non-testimonial statements 

made during an ongoing emergency fall outside the scope of the 

Confrontation Clause entirely. kL. 

The Washington Supreme Court then applied these 

principles in State v. Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d 1, 168 P.3d 1273 (2007). 

In further defining the test for determining whether the primary 

purpose of an interrogation is to meet an ongoing emergency, the 

Ohlson court identified four factors that courts should consider: 

1) the timing of the statements; 2) the level of harm threatened; 

3) the level of need for the information; and 4) the formality or lack 

of formality of the questioning. Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d at 15. Based 

on these factors, the court concluded that statements that the victim 

had made to the first officer on the scene following a serious 

assault with racial overtones were not testimonial; thus, they were 

admissible as excited utterances despite the victim's failure to 

testify at trial. kL. at 16-19. In so holding, the court found it 

significant that the assailant was still at large when the statements 

were made, and therefore, the threat posed was greater than it 
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would have been otherwise. lit 

The Washington Supreme Court again attempted to clarify 

what constitutes a testimonial statement for purposes of the federal 

Confrontation Clause in State v. Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d 409, 

209 P.3d 479 (2009). In Koslowski, the victim of a home-invasion 

robbery made statements in response to questioning by the police 

officers who responded to her home in response to her 911 call 

after the crime. She made some statements initially to the first 

officer who arrived, and then made far more detailed statements 

several minutes later when a second officer arrived. Koslowski, 

166 Wn.2d at 414-15. The victim died prior to trial, so the issue 

was whether her statements were testimonial such that they were 

admitted in violation of the Confrontation Clause in the absence of 

cross-examination. 

In considering the issue, the Koslowski court expanded on 

the factors from Davis, as utilized in Ohlson, that courts should 

consider in distinguishing testimonial statements from statements 

made for the primary purpose of enabling a response to an ongoing 

emergency: 

(1) Was the speaker speaking about current events 
as they were actually occurring, requiring police 
assistance, or was he or she describing past events? 
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The amount of time that has elapsed (if any) is 
relevant. (2) Would a "reasonable listener" conclude 
that the speaker was facing an ongoing emergency 
that required help? A plain call for help against a 
bona fide physical threat is a clear example where a 
reasonable listener would recognize that the speaker 
was facing such an emergency. (3) What was the 
nature of what was asked and answered? Do the 
questions and answers show, when viewed 
objectively, that the elicited statements were 
necessary to resolve the present emergency or do 
they show, instead, what had happened in the past? 
For example, a 911 operator's effort to establish the 
identity of an assailant's name so that officers might 
know whether they would be encountering a violent 
felon would indicate that the elicited statements were 
nontestimonial. (4) What was the level of formality of 
the interrogation? The greater the formality, the more 
likely the statement was testimonial. For example, 
was the caller frantic and in an environment that was 
not tranquil or safe? 

Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d at 418-19 (footnote and citation omitted). In 

summary, the timing of the statements, the nature of the questions 

and answers, the formality of the questioning (or lack thereof), and 

whether an objective listener would interpret the statements as 

requests for immediate assistance are all relevant in determining 

whether statements are testimonial under Crawford and Davis. In 

Koslowski, the court ultimately determined that the victim's 

statements were testimonial, because they were made in response 

to police questioning after the danger had passed and there was no 

longer an ongoing emergency or a need for immediate assistance. 
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Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d at 421-22. Noteworthy is that in Koslowski, 

the suspect tied the victim and left her in her home. The victim did 

not flee from Koslowski. lQ. 

More recently, the Washington Supreme Court considered 

whether a recording of a 911 call was admissible under both the 

federal and state confrontation clauses in State v. Pugh, 167 Wn.2d 

825, 255 P.3d 892 (2009). In Pugh, the victim called 911 to report 

that the defendant had just assaulted her, that he was no longer in 

the house, and, in response to the operator's questions, she 

provided a description of the defendant. Pugh, 167 Wn.2d at 829. 

After a brief analysis of the "ongoing emergency" analysis from 

Davis, the Pugh court concluded that the 911 call was clearly not 

testimonial because it was a request for immediate assistance, and 

thus, that the call was properly admitted under the federal 

Confrontation Clause. Pugh, 167 Wn.2d at 831-34. 

In addition, the Pugh court considered whether the victim's 

911 call was admissible under article I, section 22 of the 

Washington Constitution.1 In conducting this analysis, the court 

discussed the historical underpinnings of the "res gestae" exception 

1 Although Levine's claim on appeal is made solely under the Sixth Amendment 
of the federal constitution, the court's state constitutional analysis in Pugh is 
instructive. 
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to the requirement for cross-examination, which existed when the 

state constitution was ratified, and held that the admission of 

"res gestae" statements without cross-examination or a showing 

that the declarant was unavailable did not violate the state 

Confrontation Clause. kL at 834-43. 

As the court explained, "res gestae" statements relate to the 

main event at issue, are natural declarations growing out of the 

event, are statements of fact rather than opinion, are spontaneous 

or instinctive rather than premeditated, and are made by a 

participant or witness to the event. kL at 839 (citing Beck v. Dye, 

200 Wn. 1, 9-10, 92 P .2d 1113 (1939)). As such, the "res gestae" 

doctrine "evolved into several present day hearsay exceptions," 

including present sense impressions and excited utterances. Pugh, 

167 Wn.2d at 839. Ultimately, the court held that the victim's 911 

call was properly admitted against the defendant at trial because it 

consisted of traditional res gestae statements. kL at 843. 

Even more recently, the United States Supreme Court 

performed further analysis regarding the Confrontation Clause in 

Michigan v. Bryant, _ U.S. _, 131 S. Ct. 1143, 179 L. Ed. 2d 

93 (2011). Unlike Crawford, which involved a formal police 

interrogation, and unlike Davis, which involved a 911 call, Bryant 
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concerned statements made by a shooting victim to the first officers 

to arrive on the scene where the victim was found bleeding in a 

parking lot. In response to questioning by the officers, the victim 

identified the shooter and told them where and how the shooting 

had occurred. The victim later died, and his statements were 

admitted atthe defendant's murder trial. Bryant, 131 S. Ct. at 1150. 

The Court observed that in resolving the question of whether 

statements to police are testimonial, the "primary purpose of the 

interrogation" must be objectively ascertained, and that the 

existence of an ongoing emergency "is among the most important 

circumstances" in making that determination. Bryant, 131 S. Ct. at 

1156-57. The Court further observed that "the prospect of 

fabrication in statements given for the primary purpose of resolving 

that emergency is presumably significantly diminished," and that 

"[t]his logic is not unlike that justifying the excited utterance 

exception in hearsay law." ~ at 1157. The Court recognized that 

the question of whether an emergency exists "is a highly context

dependent inquiry," and that factors such as whether the suspect is 

still at large, whether the victim is injured, whether weapons are 

involved, and whether there may be a threat to the public or the 

officers themselves must all be taken into consideration. ~ at 
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1158-59. 

Further, the Court emphasized that the level of formality of 

the questioning is an important consideration, and that a lack of 

formality often signals that the statements at issue are not 

testimonial. 1!l at 1160. Significantly, the Court recognized that the 

officers' questioning of the shooting victim "occurred in an exposed, 

public area, prior to the arrival of emergency medical services, and 

in a disorganized fashion." 1!l After examining all relevantfactors, 

the Court concluded that there was an emergency, and that the 

victim's statements were the product of questioning designed to 

assist the officers in responding to that emergency. As such, the 

statements were not testimonial, and their admission did not violate 

the Sixth Amendment. 1!l at 1166-67. 

Finally, in State v. Reed, 168 Wn.App. 533, 278 P.3d 203 

(2012), a Division 1 case, this court ruled that a victim's statements 

made during 911 calls, as well as her initial statements to the 

responding officer, were not testimonial, and did not violate the 

confrontation clause. lQ. 

In Reed, the victim made two different calls to 911. During 

the second call, the court acknowledged that the victim, Ta, was 

describing Reed's actions, which had occurred in the recent past. 
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Reed at 566. The court pointed out that when statements are made 

"within minutes of the assault," these statements are to be 

considered as "contemporaneous with the events described." Reed, 

quoting Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d at 17. 

Reed argued that because Ta had told the 911 operator that 

Reed had left the area, no possible ongoing emergency existed. 

This argument was rejected and this court specifically noted the 

presence of an ongoing emergency should be assessed "from the 

perspective of whether there was a continuing threat to [the victim]." 

Id at 567. A critical part of the holding is this court's recognition that 

the departure of a domestic violence assailant does not eliminate a 

potential threat. Reed at 567, quoting Bryant, 131 S.Ct. at 1158. 

(Emphasis mine). 

The court specifically emphasized that Ta's assailant was 

still at large, that Reed was in a vehicle and highly mobile, and 

could have returned to the scene at any time. Even though Reed 

may not have posed a public threat, he still posed a legitimate 

threat to Ta. Reed at 568. 

The responding officer arrived approximately 6 minutes after 

Ta's 911 call. Ta ran to the officer and told him that she had been 

attacked. The initial statements were not subject to the 
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confrontation clause and were admissible as they were made to 

secure police protection. This court held that the Officer's arrival 

may have "temporarily eliminated the threat that Reed might return 

and do further harm to Ta, this protection was contingent upon his 

continued presence at the scene." Reed at 570. 

After an objective evaluation of the situation and 

circumstances, the court conducted a thorough analysis involving 

the four relevant factors set forth in Koslowski and determined the 

statements were admissible. 2 

A final important factor in Reed, is that Ta's statements to 

the arriving officer were spontaneous, and not in response to any 

question put forth. The State argued that a spontaneous statement 

could not be testimonial. This court appears to have rejected that 

assertion, noting that interrogation is not a prerequisite for 

testimonial hearsay. Reed at 570, footnote 9. 

Here, Officer Lawson arrived within 5 to 6 minutes of the 911 

call. Ms. Cornelius had told 911 that a girl had come running to her 

door and had either been thrown or had fallen from a vehicle. Ms. 

Cornelius also described injuries to Bustos. Bustos reported that 

2 Ta made statements to two different officers after the emergency had been 
resolved and these statements were properly determined to be testimonial and 
were inadmissible. 
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she had been hit, choked, and that the assailant had threatened to 

kill her. 

Upon arrival, Officer Lawson noted that Bustos had visible 

injuries consistent with the 911 call. Bustos was hysterical and 

crying, had a difficult time catching her breath, and was quite upset 

and scared. At this time, not knowing what the situation was, or 

whether it was safe at the location, Officer Lawson kept aid from 

entering the location. CP 229: 25; 230: 1-3; 10-16. 

Officer Lawson asked Bustos what happened, and 

immediately was told of the assault and the identity of the assailant. 

Part of Bustos initial statement was that Levine had threatened to 

kill her, and that if she called the police, he would most certainly do 

so. CP 230: 19-25; 231: 1-12; 237: 11-21. 

The present facts are on point with the facts this court 

considered in Reed. In both cases the victims had left from a 

vehicle and were in areas that were not inherently safe. Both 

victims were extremely fearful and both had injuries visible to the 

responding officers. In both cases, the assailant had fled in a 

vehicle, was highly mobile, and was still at large. In both cases, 

subsequent statements to officers were found to be testimonial and 

were ruled inadmissible. Add to the Reed facts that Bustos was 
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afraid Levine was going to follow her down the drive and that he 

had threatened to kill Bustos if she called police. Under the Reed 

analysis, Bustos' statements to Officer Lawson are non-testimonial 

because they are an effort to inform police of an emergency and 

ensure a continued police presence to provide assistance. Reed at 

570. 

Levine places a great amount of weight on the Koslowski 

holding. Petitioner's Brief at 13, 20-24. Koslowski can easily be 

distinguished. In that case, one of the main issues the court 

considered is that the assailants had left the scene of their own 

accord after restraining the victim with plastic restraints. Further, it 

is unclear how much time had passed from the assailant's 

departure and the 911 call. Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d 409 

The facts here are the opposite - Bustos fled from her 

assailant, he didn't leave her. Bustos either fell from or was thrown 

from a vehicle. Bustos ran from Levine to a nearby home whose 

occupants were unknown to her. Bustos told Ms. Cornelius she was 

afraid "he" was going to come up the driveway, referring to her 

assailant. Bustos was so adamant about this Ms. Cornelius posted 

somebody at the end of the road. CP 206: 23-25; 207: 1. 
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Nonetheless, Levine argues that Bustos was speaking about 

past events for the purpose of prosecution, that there was no 

emergency, and that a statement about a past event made to a 

police officer conducting a criminal investigation must be a

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